UPPER LODGE
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Primary Record No. 04845w

The Upper Lodge lies on the western side of the main drive from Cadle village to Penllergare Mansion, approximately 650m south-southeast of the mansion. It is located at the interface of gentle, sloping ground to the north and a steep-sided heavily wooded valley to the north. Its location is rather puzzling, it seems unnecessary to build a lodge partway along a drive, and therefore it may not have been a de novo construction when the drive was built in 1833 by John Dillwyn Llewelyn, but was in fact a pre-existing structure. There is archaeological evidence for a road pre-dating the 1833 drive to the northwest. It is possible that this lodge served this drive. There is no earlier cartographic evidence for this, but it could have been built between 1813 and 1833. 

Edward Haycock built, or rebuilt, the lodge in c. 1833 in a style common to his design of other buildings at Penllergare – decorative bargeboards and dressed stone detailing, features shown on a photograph by John Dillwyn Llewelyn, and a 20th century photograph. The site is now very overgrown, stone walls stand up to 2m high and dressed-stone window and door mouldings lie scattered in the undergrowth.

Sources: Ordnance Survey 1:2500 maps 1877, 1898, 1916 and 1936; Ordnance Survey 2” to 1 mile surveyors’ sketch map, 1813; R Morris 1999, Penllergare A Victorian Paradise
